IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM HAROLD KELLEY

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.: SC08-608 L.T. NO.: CR81-0535

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILLIAM HAROLD KELLEY

/

On Direct Appeal from the 10th Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Highlands County, Florida

> Sylvia H. Walbolt Florida Bar No. 033604 Kevin J. Napper Florida Bar No. 656062 Joseph H. Lang, Jr. Florida Bar No. 059404 Leslie Schultz-Kin Florida Bar No. 230080 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Corporate Center Three at International Plaza 4221 W. Boy Scout Blvd. Suite 1000 Tampa, FL 33607-57366 Telephone: (813) 223-7000 Facsimile: (813) 229-4133

Attorneys For Defendant/ Appellant William Harold Kelley

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS							
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT							
ARGUMENT							
I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT KELLEY DID NOT ESTABLISH A BRADY V. MARYLAND CLAIM	8						
A. Standard of Review2	8						
B. Kelley established that the State committed a Brady v. Maryland violation	8						
II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON KELLEY'S BRADY V. MARYLAND CLAIM							
A. Standard of Review4	0						
B. Kelley should have been permitted an evidentiary hearing4	0						
CONCLUSION	5						
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 4	7						
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE							

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668 (2004)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)passim
<u>Giglio v. United States</u> , 405 U.S. 150 (1972)21, 23
Kelley v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corrections, 377 F.3d 1317 (11th Cir. 2004)15, 17
<u>Kelley v. Singletary</u> , 222 F. Supp. 2d 1357 (S.D. Fla. 2002) <i>passim</i>
Kelley v. Singletary, 238 F. Supp. 2d 1325 (S.D. Fla. 2002)
<u>Kyles v. Whitley</u> , 514 U.S. 419 (1985)
<u>Strickler v. Green</u> , 527 U.S. 263 (1999)28
<u>United State v. Bagley</u> , 473 U.S. 667 (1985)

STATE CASES

<u>Freeman v. State</u> , 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000)41, 45
<u>Green v. State</u> , 975 So. 2d 1090 (Fla. 2008)28
Hoffman v. State, 800 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2001)
Kelley v. Dugger, 597 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 1992)2, 14-15
Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1986)passim
Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1990)passim
Kelley v. State, 974 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 2007)
Mordenti v. State, 894 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 2004)
<u>Nixon v. State</u> , 932 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2006)41
<u>Owen v. State</u> , 2008 WL 1969141 (Fla. May 8, 2008)40

<u>Peede v. State</u> , 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999)41
Robinson v. State, 325 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976)33
<u>Rose v. State</u> , 787 So. 2d 786 (Fla. 2001)
<u>State v. Coney</u> , 845 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2003)
<u>State v. Huggins</u> , 788 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Sweet v. State</u> , 235 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970)6
<u>Way v. State</u> , 760 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 2000)
<u>Wells v. State</u> , 270 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972)6
<u>White v. State</u> , 664 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1995)
Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1999)

STATUTES/RULES

		§ 2254.	.s.c.	28 U
passim	3.850	cim. P.	R. Cı	Fla.
	3.851	cim. P.	R. Cı	Fla.
1, 17	3.853	cim. P.	R. Ci	Fla.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, William Harold Kelley, will be referred to as "Kelley." Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the State."

The record on appeal is contained in three (3) volumes. Citations to the record are referred to as "Rx y-z," where "x" is the volume number and "y-z" are the page number(s). Many of the record citations in this brief will be to the Joint Pretrial Stipulation of Facts filed by Kelley and the State in the federal habeas corpus proceeding. That Stipulation is found in this record at R2 263-79, and it in turn contains references back to the original state court records, as necessary.

As was the convention used by Kelley, the State, and the trial court below, references to Kelley's first trial transcript will be cited as "Kelley I [page number]," references to Kelley's second trial transcript will be cited as "Kelley II [page number]," references to the June 6, 2006 hearing in the Rule 3.853 DNA proceeding will be cited as "Kelley DNA [page number]," and references to the Record on Appeal in the Rule 3.853 DNA proceeding will be cited as "Kelley DNA ROA[volume] [page number]."

All emphasis in quotations has been added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

INTRODUCTION

William Kelley was indicted in 1981 and convicted in 1984 for the murder of Charles Von Maxcy in 1966. He has steadfastly maintained his innocence. One person who admitted to masterminding the murder, and another who admitted to participating in the murder, were granted immunity. In contrast, Kelley has spent nearly twenty-five years on Death Row. This case has reached this Court four prior times. See Kelley v. State, 974 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 2007); Kelley v. Dugger, 597 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 1992); Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1990); Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1986).

In 1976, on motion by the State made five years before Kelley was indicted, some of the physical crime scene evidence collected by the State during its 1966 investigation was destroyed pursuant to court order. [R2 305]. Although <u>other</u> physical evidence gathered during that investigation had been returned to other authorities, that fact was not made known to Kelley at that time. Consequently, his trial proceeded under the mistaken assumption that all of the physical evidence had been destroyed.

It was not until two years ago that the State for the first time advised Kelley, by letter dated May 10, 2006, that some of the crime scene evidence had been returned to four officers of

the submitting authorities, who acknowledged receipt of the evidence. [R1 56, 63-67]. It is undisputed that the 1976 court order only authorized evidence held by the clerk of the court in the case of <u>State of Florida v. John J. Sweet</u>, Case No. 3002 (Fla. 10th Cir.) to be destroyed and it did not authorize the destruction of this other crime scene evidence. [<u>See</u> R3 305-08]. Consequently, there is no reason to believe this evidence was destroyed when other evidence was destroyed in 1976 pursuant to that order.

To the contrary, under the presumption of regularity of business practices, which has been applied to public officials, that evidence is presumed to have existed at the time of Kelley's trial. The State has been inconsistent in its explanation as to what happened to that other evidence, saying at one point that the evidence was not accounted for, [R2 276 ¶98], but now saying it was "destroyed" prior to Kelley's 1984 trial. [R2 195]. The State has never explained, however, why, how, or exactly when the other evidence was purportedly destroyed. What is certain is that Kelley was not given information (i) about its return to investigating agencies in 1966 and 1967 or (ii) that it existed prior to his 1984 trial.

On May 9, 2007, Kelley filed a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2) motion contending that the State's failure to disclose any information about the existence of this evidence

prior to his 1984 trial violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and otherwise constituted prosecutorial misconduct that violated his due process rights, warranting reversal of his conviction and vacation of his sentence. [R1 1-180]. The trial court summarily denied that motion, even though Kelley asserted that the motion required an evidentiary hearing. [R3 403-10]. This appeal followed. [R3 381-82].

A. The Death Of Charles Von Maxcy

The circumstances underlying this case began with an affair between John J. Sweet ("Sweet"), a career criminal, and Irene Maxcy ("Mrs. Maxcy"), the wife of Charles Von Maxcy. <u>See Kelley</u> <u>v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 579. The plan was that Sweet and Mrs. Maxcy would live on Mr. Maxcy's inheritance. <u>Id.</u> Sweet reached out to his contacts in Boston and negotiated a contract on Mr. Maxcy's life. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Maxcy was found murdered on October 3, 1966, when Mrs. Maxcy and a relative entered the Maxcy residence and found Mr. Maxcy dead on the bedroom floor. [Kelley II 461].

The police examined the crime scene, took several photographs, and collected physical evidence found at the scene. [Kelley II 478-484]. J.C. Murdock, a Deputy Sheriff at the time, participated in the immediate investigation of the crime scene. [Kelley II 477-478]. According to Deputy Murdock, a significant amount of blood was found in the bedroom and the hallway leading into the bedroom. [Kelley II 479, 493-494].

Deputy Murdock also testified, however, that no blood whatever was found in Mr. Maxcy's car (which the killers allegedly took after the crime), [Kelley II 496-497], despite the absence of any evidence that the killer(s) had washed off blood before leaving Maxcy's house. [Kelley II 496].

Deputy Murdock further testified that investigators located Mr. Maxcy's car in a shopping center parking lot and examined it for evidence. [Kelley II 488]. Investigators found latent fingerprints inside the home and the car; the fingerprints do not match to Kelley and were never identified. [Kelley II 488, 490, 492].

The physical crime scene evidence was collected and placed in the custody of the Highlands County Sheriff's Office. [Kelley II 479-481, 484, 495, 707]. Some of the physical evidence was later delivered to a laboratory in Tallahassee, Florida, for further analysis. Id.

"Because prosecutors found the evidence insufficient to proceed against [Kelley] and Von Etter, and because Irene Maxcy received immunity in return for her testimony in the case, only Sweet was originally tried." <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1986).

B. Proceedings Against Sweet For The Crime

Sweet was tried twice for the first degree murder of Mr. Maxcy. Id. Sweet's first trial ended in a mistrial and his

second trial ended in a conviction, which was then reversed on appeal. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see Sweet v. State</u>, 235 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970). "At that point, the state felt unable to proceed against Sweet due to the lapse of time and the loss of certain witnesses' testimony." <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 579. The loss of witness testimony was the result of Mrs. Maxcy's conviction for perjury during Sweet's trial. <u>See Wells v.</u> <u>State</u>, 270 So. 2d 399, 403 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) (affirming Irene Maxcy's conviction for perjury based upon false statements made during the Sweet trial).

C. The Authorized Destruction Of Some Evidence In 1976

In April 1976, the State Attorney for Highlands County filed a "Petition for the Disposal of Evidence," requesting that the trial court authorize the destruction of certain specified evidence and exhibits from Sweet's trials that were then in the custody of the Clerk of Court. [R2 305]. On April 30, 1976, the Court granted the petition and ordered that the specified evidence be destroyed. [See R2 305-08].

That evidence consisted of a small amount of physical evidence recovered from the crime scene and a number of original documentary exhibits, including: (1) a bloody sheet with several rips in it; (2) a section of Mr. Maxcy's shirt; (3) a bullet recovered from the crime scene; (4) a tire belonging to Mr. Maxcy's car that had been slashed several weeks before the

murder; (5) car rental agreements; (6) motel records; (7) telephone records; and (8) bank records. [R2 276 ¶96]. It is undisputed that the destruction Order did <u>not</u> encompass any of the other fruits of the prosecution's investigation that were not used in Sweet's trials. It is also undisputed that the Clerk would not have maintained any evidence that was not used in Sweet's trials, so an accidental destruction at that time as part of that Order would have been impossible. [<u>See</u> Kelley DNA 291].

D. Proceedings Against Kelley For The Crime

In 1981, nearly fifteen years after the murder, Sweet entered into negotiations with Massachusetts authorities to obtain immunity for a number of criminal activities he had been involved with there. [R2 263-64 ¶¶1-5]. Sweet in fact received immunity in Massachusetts for breaking and entering, hijacking, larceny, arson, bribery, bookmaking, counterfeiting, and drug and prostitution offenses. [R2 264 ¶7]. Sweet also received immunity in Florida for the Maxcy case and for perjury committed in his two trials. [R2 264 ¶7]. After receiving immunity, it was Sweet's testimony that was central to Kelley's indictment and prosecution. Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d at 580.

Kelley's initial trial in January 1984 resulted in a hung jury, from which the court declared a mistrial. [R2 271 ¶9]; <u>Id.</u> at 580. In the second trial, the jury was again impassed until

the court gave a non-standard deadlock instruction, which highlighted that there was no other evidence that could be introduced in any future re-trial; according to the instruction, the jury had all the evidence that existed. <u>Id.</u> at 584. After receiving that instruction, the jury found Kelley guilty of first degree murder. In the penalty phase, the jury recommended 8-3 that he receive the death penalty. [Kelley II 985]; <u>Kelley v. Singletary</u>, 222 F. Supp. 2d 1357, 1360 (S.D. Fla. 2002). On April 2, 1984, Kelley was sentenced to death. [Kelley II 1007]; Kelley v. Singletary, 222 F. Supp. 2d at 1360.

As this Court recognized, this was a highly unusual case raising unusual issues. <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 579. The prosecution of Kelley's case was based largely on Sweet's testimony. <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 580; <u>Kelley v.</u> Singletary, 222 F. Supp. 2d at 1359.

The prosecution argued that, according to Sweet's story, the murder was carried out by two men who drove to the Maxcy residence with Sweet, went into the house, and waited for Mr. Maxcy to arrive home from work. [Kelley II 435, 546, 862, 890]. Significantly, the prosecution presented no other theory as to how the crime occurred or the number of persons involved. Id.

The lawyers representing Kelley during his trials chose not to present evidence in his defense and, instead, rested without presenting a case-in-chief. [Kelley II 813]. In deciding how

to defend, they were hamstrung by a lack of physical evidence to present about the crime scene and related events. While mention was made of the bloody crime scene and the lack of blood evidence connecting Kelley to the crime scene, the defense was unable to develop this theme with physical evidence and a full crime scene reconstruction. [See Kelley II 825, 833].

In closing argument, Kelley's lawyers argued that Sweet was an admitted liar and was lying about Kelley's involvement in the crime. [Kelley II 818, 840, 844-847]. The defense argued that Sweet named Kelley as a participant in the crime because everyone else who was allegedly involved was dead or missing by 1981, and Sweet accordingly had no one else to offer up to the prosecution to secure his immunity from prosecution in Florida. [Kelley II 842]. But, since the existence of the physical evidence was not disclosed to Kelley by the prosecutors, the defense was unable to present physical evidence to bolster its argument that Sweet was lying and that Kelley was not at the murder scene.

After retiring to deliberate, the jury reached an impasse. After giving the standard deadlock instruction, the trial judge gave the following additional and non-standard instructions:

I would ask that you give it your full consideration. It is an important case.

If you fail to reach a verdict, there is no reason to believe the case can be tried again any

better or more exhaustively than it has been.

There is no reason to believe there is any more evidence or clearer evidence could be produced on either side. And there is no reason to believe the case could be submitted to twelve more intelligent and impartial people than you are.

In the future a jury would be selected in the same manner that you were. Therefore, I would ask that you retire at this time and consider whether you wish to consider the matter further.

It has taken us a week to get this far, and I would ask that you retire and consider the case further.

See Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d at 584.

The State stayed silent when this jury charge was read. In fact, the State knew there was more evidence - from the crime scene itself - that had not been disclosed to Kelley or his counsel. That evidence was presumed to still exist, since the only destruction order did not encompass this other evidence.

E. Kelley's Direct Appeal

On direct appeal, Kelley contended, among other things, that giving the non-standard deadlock language -- after the jury had deliberated for several hours and announced that it had reached an impasse -- impermissibly misled and so coerced the jury into returning a verdict that it deprived Kelley of his right to a fair trial. <u>See Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 584. This Court, however, concluded that, "while disapproving of such departure from Florida's Standard Jury Instructions, we can find

no prejudice resulting from the instructions as given." <u>Id.</u> at 85.

Kelley also contended on direct appeal that the State's destruction of evidence held by the Clerk of Court over five years before his indictment deprived him of due process of law and frustrated the preparation of his defense. <u>See Kelley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 486 So. 2d at 580. This Court described how, after Sweet's trial, the case file, including the evidence, had been transmitted to the clerk and then destroyed nine years later on the State's motion. This Court then stated:

The destroyed evidence which appellant claims may have had particular exculpatory value was real evidence, principally taken from the scene of the crime -- a bullet, a bloody bedsheet purportedly used to subdue the victim during repeated stabbings, and a shred of the victim's shirt. Also destroyed were two handwritten statements by Sweet, which appellant urges would have been useful in impeachment.

Id. at 580.

That list of items in this Court's opinion refers to the evidence at Sweet's trial that was destroyed with specific authorization of the trial court. It does not make any reference to the <u>other</u> fruits of the prosecution's crime scene investigation. Although Kelley and the Court did not know it at the time, that other evidence had been returned by the Florida Sheriff's Bureau Crime Laboratory in 1966 and 1967 to four officers of the submitting authorities. [R1 56, 63-67]. The

whereabouts of that evidence before the 1984 trial remains unknown to Kelley today, because the trial court below denied Kelley's Rule 3.851(e)(2) Motion, leading to this appeal. (<u>See</u> Section G, below). What is known is the destruction order did not reach that evidence and the State has come forward with no evidence suggesting it was destroyed as of 1984. Thus, as discussed at page thirty-two (32) below, that evidence is presumed under Florida law to have existed at the time of Kelley's trial.

F. Post-Conviction Proceedings

1. Kelley's Rule 3.850 Motion

On November 20, 1987, Kelley filed a motion to vacate judgment and sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. After denying portions of the motion on May 27, 1988, the trial court held a hearing on July 18-19, 1988, and then denied the remainder of the motion. This Court affirmed. See Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1990).

Among the issues addressed by this Court was whether the State's destruction of material evidence prior to Kelley's trial deprived him of his constitutional rights. This Court ruled that its prior opinion on direct appeal resolved this issue, *sub silentio*:

> Kelley now argues that certain crime scene evidence was destroyed which was not encompassed within this Court's earlier ruling. However, it

appears that many of the items characterized as "additional evidence" were discussed in a supplemental brief in Kelley's original appeal. Thus, while our opinion did not specifically discuss such additional evidence, it is clear that the issue was decided adversely to Kelley.

Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d at 756.

The Court also noted that "in affidavits submitted in support of the motion for postconviction relief, Kelley's trial counsel admitted knowing that the fruits of the police investigation had been destroyed." <u>Id.</u> We now know, however, that those affidavits were based on incomplete information, due to the failure of the State to disclose to Kelley that the fruits of the prosecution's investigation that were <u>not</u> used at Sweet's trial had been returned to the submitting authorities.

The record shows there never has been an evidentiary finding that such evidence was in fact destroyed prior to Kelley's trial. <u>Nor would the record before this Court on</u> <u>direct appeal and in the post-conviction proceedings have</u> <u>supported a finding that all evidence had been destroyed.</u> <u>Presumably, it had not been destroyed, as no court order</u> <u>authorized such destruction, and the State never has come</u> <u>forward with any state official who could attest that this</u> <u>evidence was in fact destroyed after being returned to the</u> <u>submitting authorities and before Kelley's trial.</u> Obviously,

information about the existence and whereabouts of this evidence was solely and peculiarly within the State's own knowledge.

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