### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM H. KELLEY,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC08-608

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0503843
Concourse Center #4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7910
Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below properly denied Kelley's motion for DNA testing. Kelley failed to offer good cause to permit pre-hearing discovery and was given adequate notice prior to the start of the hearing. His right to due process in postconviction was not violated by the litigation of his DNA motion. The court complied with the mandate of Rule 3.853 and determined, following evidentiary hearing, that no evidence which could be subject to DNA testing exists. As the evidence presented fully supports that finding, Kelley is not entitled to any relief in this appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING KELLEY'S REQUEST FOR PRE-HEARING DISCOVERY.

Kelley initially challenges the trial court's ruling denying his request for pre-hearing discovery on his DNA motion. Specifically, he asserts that he provided good cause and should have been allowed to "fully discover and depose witnesses involved in this case at the time of the crime and trials." (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 18). This claim must be denied for a number of reasons.

First of all, Kelley has not particularly identified the discovery in which he would engage if given the opportunity. In his motion for DNA testing, he requested leave to pursue public records requests under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852, but his brief makes no claim of entitlement to additional public records and therefore he has abandoned that pursuit on appeal. His brief suggests that he should be permitted to depose all prior records custodians, presumably for any local or state agency that might ever have conceivably possessed the physical evidence collected in 1966 (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 22). In the court below, Kelley requested the opportunity to depose all witnesses identified by the State as potentially having knowledge as to the existence of the evidence, as well as any other witnesses that

might be identified by the known witnesses as having potential knowledge, as well as any former custodians from 1966 or 1976 (V9/1688-89). At any rate, exactly whom he would purport to depose, and what information could be revealed, is not specifically identified.

A ruling to deny or limit discovery in postconviction is subject to an abuse of discretion standard; the burden is on Kelley to demonstrate such abuse. State v. Lewis, 656 So. 2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1995). Postconviction discovery should be granted only where good cause is demonstrated. Id. In this case, no good cause for the granting of pre-hearing discovery has been offered.

In <u>Lewis</u>, this Court identified the following factors to guide a determination as to whether to grant discovery: the issues presented, the elapsed time between the conviction and the post-conviction hearing, any burdens placed on the opposing party and witnesses, alternative means of securing the evidence, and any other relevant facts. It has been twenty-three years since Kelley's conviction, and the only issue at this point is narrow and straightforward. Kelley has been free to investigate the existence of any physical evidence since before his 1984 trial, and has claimed to have done so in litigating issues relating to destruction of the evidence. The information that the witnesses had concerning their searches for any remaining evidence was provided to the defense through correspondence nearly a month

before the evidentiary hearing, and any necessary follow up could have been easily secured without the need for a formal deposition; defense counsel could have simply contacted these witnesses directly with any questions, or could have requested further information from either Ms. Avalon or undersigned counsel. There has been no suggestion that the State instructed any of these witnesses not to cooperate with defense counsel. As these witnesses needed to testify at the evidentiary hearing, the inconvenience of providing the same information under oath in a separate formal deposition is not justified by the defense's desire to prolong the litigation of his DNA motion. Thus, all of the factors identified in Lewis favor denial of his request for discovery.

In <u>Bracy v. Gramley</u>, 520 U.S. 899 (1997), the United States Supreme Court considered whether good cause had been demonstrated to permit discovery in a federal habeas proceeding. In <u>Bracy</u>, the defendant was pursuing a claim of judicial bias based on the judge's established involvement in corruption, and he wanted to depose his state court judge. The Court described the standard as having been met "where specific allegations before the court show reason to believe that the petitioner may, if the facts are fully developed, be able to demonstrate that he is . . . entitled to relief," quoting <u>Harris v. Nelson</u>, 394 U.S. 286, 299 (1969). Bracy, 520 U.S. at 908-09. The Court also observed that the

accepted presumption that public officials properly discharge their duties had been soundly rebutted in that case, as the judge had been convicted of numerous bribery offenses. <u>Id</u>. The Court concluded that, in light of the facts presented, discovery should have been permitted.

In contrast, in the instant case, there are no specific allegations that could be developed into facts demonstrating that this evidence still exists or that Kelley may be entitled to any relief. Kelley merely asserts that the evidence was collected in 1966, and that he and his attorneys are not convinced that it does not still exist somewhere. There is no basis to suggest that any records or evidence custodian failed to discharge their official duties in any manner; to the contrary, the evidence presented below establishes that the custodians have taken their responsibilities seriously and acted professionally at all times.

The necessary predicate of good cause precludes granting discovery simply to authorize a fishing expedition based on nothing but speculation. Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 253-54 (Fla. 2001) (finding defendant failed to make necessary showing of good cause for public records characterized as a fishing expedition); Ward v. Whitley, 21 F.3d 1355, 1367 (5th Cir. 1994) (noting speculation will not support finding of good cause for discovery). Similarly, Rule 3.853 does not provide authority for courts to oversee unending searches for evidence which, by all accounts, no

longer exists. The court below found that, "[t]o follow the arguments of Mr. Kelley's counsel to their logical conclusion, the search would never end" (V9/1760). On these facts, granting openended pre-hearing discovery was not compelled and would only serve to further delay finality in a case which should have been concluded years ago.

Notably, Kelley has not even attempted to identify any possible prejudice from the denial of his request to depose witnesses. As to those witnesses that testified at the evidentiary hearing below, he has offered no showing of surprise or prejudice to the defense premised on the witnesses having testified without being deposed. Several weeks before the hearing, Kelley's attorneys were provided information as to who the witnesses would be, as well as correspondence addressing their respective searches for physical evidence. The testimony presented was consistent with the representations that had been made weeks earlier. As to any other possible witness, Kelley does not identify any particular individual with relevant knowledge or show that such a person is alive and available for deposition. No abuse of discretion can be found on these facts. See Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1279-80 (Fla. 2005) (upholding denial of pre-hearing discovery in postconviction where defendant was provided access to witness information and was not surprised by testimony provided at subsequent evidentiary hearing).

Kelley's reliance on Spaziano v. State, 879 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), is misplaced. Kelley suggests that Spaziano requires discovery where the defendant has reason to believe that evidence still exists, the State represents that the evidence has been destroyed, the court cannot discern what efforts have been made to find the evidence, and the record does not contain documents establishing the destruction of the evidence (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 20-21). However, Spaziano did not purport to set parameters for the granting of discovery in cases seeking postconviction DNA testing, but merely applied Lewis to the facts before that court. In Spaziano, the motion for DNA testing was denied upon the State's oral representation that none of the requested items existed. Because the State's representations were equivocal, the district court concluded that further consideration of that issue was warranted. The court remanded, noting it appeared that Spaziano should be entitled to conduct discovery to determine whether any physical evidence still existed. The court noted, however, that the discovery should be restricted and governed by the principles noted above from Lewis.

Even if these factors were dispositive, they support the denial of relief in this case. As to Kelley's belief that the evidence exists, that belief is based solely on the fact that there was physical evidence recovered from the scene in 1966. Given the history of this case, any belief that this evidence still exists is

not based on reason and can only be characterized, at best, as speculative. Such speculation does not equate to a reasonable belief that the evidence exists. In the instant case, the court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issue, and therefore the record fully establishes the vast efforts undertaken to find any evidence. A remand at this time to allow depositions of unspecified persons would serve no purpose other than delay.

Kelley's claim that the denial of pre-hearing discovery "effectively deprived Kelley of his statutory right to DNA testing" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 23), is also not persuasive. Courts are under no obligation to permit broad discovery based on speculation which, given the history of this case, is dubious at best. Moreover, as will be seen, Kelley's motion for DNA testing failed to establish that any possible testing could exonerate him. Therefore, this case does not fall within that class of cases in which DNA testing can be required by statute or Rule 3.853.

On the facts of this case, the trial court's denial of prehearing discovery was not an abuse of discretion. As Kelley has failed to demonstrate any error, this Court must affirm the ruling entered below on this issue.

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER KELLEY WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS DUE TO INADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Kelley also disputes the trial court's refusal to continue the evidentiary hearing, asserting that he did not have sufficient notice of the hearing, resulting in a denial of his right to due process. A review of the record establishes that this argument has not been preserved for appellate review. At no time during the course of the proceedings below did Kelley inform the court that he believed that his constitutional rights were being violated due to a lack of adequate notice of the June 6 hearing. Moreover, as Kelley was provided with adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard at the evidentiary hearing, no due process violation can be found in this case.

Kelley only requested additional time before the June 6 hearing in one instance. Following the denial of the State's motion to continue the hearing after telephonic conference, Kelley filed an Emergency Motion for Reconsideration, Motion for Continuance, and Motion for Stay of Proceedings on May 15, 2006 (V9/1684-94). That motion did not allege any infringement on Kelley's due process rights, it only asserted that additional time was necessary in order to secure and complete discovery before the hearing. Kelley did not object at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, did not indicate that he had been denied an adequate

opportunity to prepare, and did not suggest to the court that he needed additional time for any reason.<sup>2</sup> Thus, this argument must be denied as procedurally barred. <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 901 So. 2d 766, 778-780 (Fla. 2005) (finding postconviction due process claim to be procedurally barred where specific issue had not been presented to trial court).

In addition, Kelley has not offered the appropriate standard of review on this issue. Because Kelley did not present this issue, there is no lower court ruling to be reviewed. Kelley asserts that review is de novo, since the question presented involves the application of due process, citing Trotter v. State, 825 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 2002). The issue in Trotter was whether due process applied to Trotter's resentencing proceeding, a pure question of law. The instant case does not present a question of whether due process applies, but whether due process was violated on the facts of this case. This is necessarily a factual rather than legal question and therefore, had the question been presented, it would be reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

To the extent that this Court may review Kelley's claim for fundamental error, clearly no relief is warranted. Due process is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> After two witnesses had testified, Kelley objected to the proceeding, renewing his claim that a continuance should have been granted in order to allow time for depositions (V10/1837). Counsel renewed that objection during and after the hearing, requesting that the matter be continued so that discovery could be undertaken (V10/1881; V11/2064-65). Even at those times, no due process claim was ever asserted.

a flexible concept, calling only for such procedural protection as required by a particular situation. Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972). This Court has held that, in postconviction proceedings, "all that due process requires is that the defendant be provided meaningful access to the judicial process." Kokal, 901 So. 2d at 778. Kelley has not been denied meaningful access to the judicial process. At the hearing, he was represented by no less than four attorneys, who managed to draft a number of pleadings for filing, including a 24-page "Pre-Hearing Brief" (V9/1719-1742), as well as litigating an extraordinary writ in this Court when the lower court declined to stay the proceedings (V9/1752-53); Kelley v. State, 933 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 2006). His attorneys were able to arrange for his appearance by telephone, which was his preference over attending the hearing in person (V9/1701-02; V10/1770-71). They were also able to secure an expert witness to discuss general principles of DNA testing (V11/1959-66).

Kelley has not suggested how much notice he would consider "adequate" for the proceeding at issue, only that learning "several weeks" prior to the hearing was not sufficient and violated due process. He cites three cases where due process violations were found: Borden v. Guardianship of Borden-Moore, 818 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), where a guardian proceeding was dismissed

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The court's order of April 19, 2006, directed that a hearing would be held on June 6, 2006, in order to address the existence and location of any evidence (V9/1680-83).

without any notice or hearing, in violation of applicable probate rules; May v. State, 623 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), where a juvenile contempt order was reversed as no order to show cause was ever issued, in violation of applicable juvenile rules; and Knapp v. State, 370 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), where no facts are offered but the court merely concludes that the defendant was not given proper and adequate notice before his violation of probation hearing. In sharp contrast in the instant case, notice was not only provided to Kelley's attorneys well in advance of the hearing, but the witnesses and information to be presented were also disclosed. No due process violation has been shown in this case.

To the extent that Kelley's argument can be construed as a challenge to the lower court's denial of his May 15 motion to continue, such an issue is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1127 (Fla. 2000). The court's ruling must be sustained "unless no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." Scott v. State, 717 So. 2d 908, 911 (Fla. 1998). Clearly no abuse of discretion is presented with this ruling in this case.

Kelley filed his motion for postconviction DNA testing on January 16, 2006 (V1/1-38). Within the motion, Kelley asserted that he should be granted leave to amend his motion through July 1, 2006, as that was, at the time, the deadline for filing such a motion (V1/28-30). Kelley acknowledged that he would not have

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